# University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

Water Resources Professional Project Reports

Water Resources

12-1-2007

# Relationship Between a 700-MB "Dry/Wind" Index and Springtime Precipitation and Streamflow Within Four Snowmelt-Dominated Basins in Northern New Mexico and Southern Colorado

Kerry M. Jones

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/wr\_sp

#### **Recommended** Citation

Jones, Kerry M.. "Relationship Between a 700-MB "Dry/Wind" Index and Springtime Precipitation and Streamflow Within Four Snowmelt-Dominated Basins in Northern New Mexico and Southern Colorado." (2007). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/wr\_sp/ 66

This Presentation is brought to you for free and open access by the Water Resources at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Water Resources Professional Project Reports by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

### RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN A 700-MB "DRY/WIND" INDEX AND SPRINGTIME PRECIPITATION AND STREAMFLOW WITHIN FOUR SNOWMELT-DOMINATED BASINS IN NORTHERN NEW MEXICO AND SOUTHERN COLORADO

A Professional Project Report Submitted

By

Kerry M. Jones

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Water Resources Hydroscience Concentration Water Resources Program

> The University of New Mexico Albuquerque, New Mexico December 2007

## RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN A 700-MB "DRY/WIND" INDEX AND SPRINGTIME PRECIPITATION AND STREAMFLOW WITHIN FOUR SNOWMELT-DOMINATED BASINS IN NORTHERN NEW MEXICO AND SOUTHERN COLORADO

Professional Project Committee:

Dr. David S. Gutzler Earth and Planetary Sciences Department *The University of New Mexico* 

Dr. Julie A. Coonrod Department of Civil Engineering *The University of New Mexico* 

Dr. Deirdre M. Kann NOAA/National Weather Service Albuquerque, New Mexico

Date Approved: November 15, 2007

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

To say that the past 6 years have been the most challenging and rewarding of my professional career would be an understatement. I am deeply grateful to many individuals for their support including members of my Professional Project committee:

- Dr. David Gutzler, UNM Earth and Planetary Sciences Department and committee chair, for his friendship, encouragement, and seemingly inexhaustible patience as well as his superb editing skills and uncanny ability to boost my self-confidence when I needed it most.
- Dr. Julie Coonrod, UNM Civil Engineering Department, for not only her friendship and thoughtful, well-timed reviews, but for introducing me to ArcGIS in 2001 that provided me with skills that have since proved very beneficial in my career.
- Dr. Deirdre Kann, Science Operations Officer at NOAA's National Weather Service (NWS) Forecast Office in Albuquerque and close friend whom I first met in 1994 and to whom I am deeply indebted for her encouragement and tireless efforts in support of my graduate studies, as well as her excellent editing skills.

I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to Charlie Liles, former Meteorologist-in-Charge of the NWS Forecast Office in Albuquerque, for his thoughtful discussions and, most importantly, for supporting my pursuit of a graduate degree while I worked forecast shifts full-time. I would also like to extend a special thank you to my friends and former co-workers at NWS Albuquerque, especially David Robnett for assisting with computer script code, and Ed Polasko, whose extensive knowledge of New Mexico hydrology and thoughtful discussions greatly assisted me.

I am also grateful to Dr. Michael Campana for initially accepting me into the WR Program and for piquing my interest in water-related issues beyond our borders. Dr. Bruce Thomson and Annamarie Cordova were very helpful in keeping my paperwork up-to-date and in the correct locations.

I would like to extend a very special thanks to my parents, Jon and Lynda, for instilling a love of learning at a young age and who continue to encourage me to set goals far beyond what I ever thought was possible.

Last and most certainly not least, I would like to thank my remarkable wife, Julienne, whose tireless support and encouragement made it all possible and our children: Kathryn (7), Carolyn (4), and Nathan (1½), whose daily laughter kept it in perspective.

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. TYPICAL SNOTEL SENSOR ARRAY.	4
TABLE 2. DESCRIPTION OF STUDY BASINS.	19
TABLE 3. COEFFICIENT OF DETERMINATION (R <sup>2</sup> ) VALUES FOR SWE VS. VOLUME PLOTS	29
TABLE 4. COEFFICIENT OF DETERMINATION (R <sup>2</sup> ) VALUES FOR SNOTEL (CLIMATE DIVISION)	
PRECIPITATION VS. RESIDUAL PLOTS. VALUES REPRESENT THE PERCENT OF INTERANNUAL	
STREAMFLOW VARIANCE	33
TABLE 5. PERCENT OF INTERANNUAL STREAMFLOW VARIANCE EXPLAINED BY THE DWND, PDS	I,
AND COMBINED DWND & PDSI COMPARED TO SNOTEL PRECIPITATION.	39

# LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1. ANNUAL HYDROGRAPHS FOR SELECT SNOWMELT-DOMINATED BASINS IN SOUTHERN CO
AND NORTHERN NWI.
FIGURE 2. OPPER SAN JUAN SINOTEL. FHOTO COURTEST OF INRUS (2007)
FIGURE 3. DAILY SWE FOR YEARS WITH ABOVE AVERAGE I APR SWE, UPPER SAN JUAN SINUTEL.
FIGURE 4 SAME AS FIG 3 EXCEPT FOR BELOW AVERAGE YEARS LOCATION OF THE LIPPER SAN
JUAN SNOTEL SITE IS SHOWN IN FIG. 13.
FIGURE 5. DAILY SWE FOR YEARS WITH ABOVE AVERAGE 1 MAR SWE, GALLEGOS PEAK SNOTEL.
FIGURE 6. SAME AS FIG. 5 EXCEPT FOR BELOW AVERAGE YEARS. LOCATION OF THE GALLEGOS PEAK
SNOTEL SITE IS SHOWN IN FIG. 136
FIGURE 7. SEA-SURFACE TEMPERATURE ANOMALIES AND SURFACE WIND VECTORS ASSOCIATED WITH
ENSO extrema: El Niño (warm) and La Niña (cold). Source:
HTTP://JISAO.WASHINGTON.EDU/
FIGURE 8. SEA-SURFACE TEMPERATURE ANOMALIES, SEA-LEVEL PRESSURE AND SURFACE WIND
ASSOCIATED WITH PACIFIC DECADAL OSCILLATION (PDO) EXTREMA: POSITIVE (COLD) AND
NEGATIVE (WARM). SOURCE: HTTP://JISAO.WASHINGTON.EDU/13
FIGURE 9. NINO 3.4 SST ANOMALIES VS. AMJ PRECIPITATION AT THE UPPER SAN JUAN
SNOTEL16
FIGURE 10. SAME AS IN FIG. 9 EXCEPT FOR CUMBRES TRESTLE SNOTEL
FIGURE 11. SAME AS IN FIG. 9 EXCEPT FOR RED RIVER PASS #2 SNOTEL
FIGURE 12. SAME AS IN FIG. 9 EXCEPT FOR GALLEGOS PEAK SNOTEL16
FIGURE 13. LOCATION OF SNOWMELT-DOMINATED BASINS, SNOTEL STATIONS AND USGS STREAM
GAUGES USED IN THIS STUDY
FIGURE 14. COLORADO AND NEW MEXICO CLIMATE DIVISION BOUNDARIES
FIGURE 15. 1 MAR SWE VS. AMJ STREAMFLOW VOLUME FOR THE UPPER SAN JUAN RIVER ABOVE
Pagosa Springs, CO
FIGURE 16. SAME AS IN FIG.15 EXCEPT FOR 1 APR SWE
FIGURE 17. 1 APR SWE VS. AMJ STREAMFLOW VOLUME FOR THE RIO CHAMA ABOVE EL VADO
Reservoir, NM
FIGURE 18. 1 MAR SWE vs. AMJ STREAMFLOW VOLUME FOR THE RED RIVER ABOVE QUESTA, NM.
FIGURE 19. 1 MAR SWE VS. AMJ STREAMFLOW VOLUME FOR EMBUDO CREEK ABOVE DIXON, NM.
FIGURE 20. TIME SERIES OF AMI /UU-MB TEMPERATURE FOR 1986 (STRONG POSITIVE RESIDUAL),
1989 (STRONG NEGATIVE RESIDUAL), AND 1980-2005 AVERAGE AT THE UPPER SAN JUAN
SINUTEL
FIGURE 21. TIME SERIES OF MA /UU-MB TEMPERATURE FOR 1992 (STRONG POSITIVE RESIDUAL),
2003 (STRUNG NEGATIVE RESIDUAL), AND 1981-2006 AVERAGE AT THE GALLEGOS PEAK
SINUTEL
FIGURE 22. SAME AS IN FIG. 20 EXCEPT FOR A TIME SERIES OF DWIND INDEX.
FIGURE 23. SAME AS IN FIG. 21 EXCEPT FOR A TIME SERIES OF DWIND INDEX

FIGURE 24. MAR-MAY PRECIPITATION VS. DEPARTURES FROM EXPECTED STREAMFLOW FOR THE	
UPPER RED RIVER ABOVE QUESTA.	35
FIGURE 25. SAME AS IN FIGURE 24 EXCEPT FOR MAR-JUN PRECIPITATION.	35
FIGURE 26. NINO 3.4 SST ANOMALIES VS. DWND INDEX AT UPPER SAN JUAN SNOTEL	40
FIGURE 27. SAME AS IN FIG. 26 EXCEPT FOR CUMBRES TRESTLE SNOTEL.	40
FIGURE 28. SAME AS IN FIG. 26 EXCEPT FOR RED RIVER PASS #2 SNOTEL.	40
FIGURE 29. SAME AS IN FIG. 26 EXCEPT FOR GALLEGOS PEAK SNOTEL.	40
FIGURE 30. AVG. AM DWND INDEX VS. AM PRECIPITATION, UPPER SAN JUAN SNOTEL	41
FIGURE 31. SAME AS IN FIG. 26 EXCEPT FOR CUMBRES TRESTLE SNOTEL.	41
FIGURE 32. SAME AS IN FIG. 26 EXCEPT FOR RED RIVER PASS #2 SNOTEL.	41
FIGURE 33. SAME AS IN FIG. 26 EXCEPT FOR GALLEGOS PEAK SNOTEL.	41
FIGURE 34. AVERAGE APR-MAY DWND INDEX VS. RESIDUALS, UPPER SAN JUAN ABOVE PAGOS	A
Springs, CO	42
FIGURE 35. SAME AS IN FIG. 30 EXCEPT FOR THE RIO CHAMA ABOVE EL VADO RESERVOIR, NM.	42
FIGURE 36. SAME AS IN FIG. 30 EXCEPT FOR RED RIVER ABOVE QUESTA, NM	42
FIGURE 37. SAME AS IN FIG. 30 EXCEPT FOR EMBUDO CREEK ABOVE DIXON, NM	42
FIGURE 38. JAN-MAR 700-MB HEIGHT ANOMALIES PRECEDING YEARS WITH WELL-ABOVE AVERA	GE
Apr-May DWND INDEX VALUES. SOURCE: http://www.cdc.noaa.gov/Composites/D	AY/
	45

# LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

af	acre-feet
AM	April-May
AMJ	April-June
cfs	cubic feet per second
kaf	Thousands of acre-feet
CD	climate division
DWND	dry/wind index
ENSO	El Niño-Southern Oscillation
mb	millibar
MA	March-April
MAM	March-May
NCAR	National Center for Atmospheric Research
NCEP	National Centers for Environmental Prediction
PDO	Pacific Decadal Oscillation
PDSI	Palmer Drought Severity Index
SD	standard deviation
SMR	snowmelt runoff
SNOTEL	Snow Telemetry
SOI	Southern Oscillation Index
SST	sea-surface temperature
SWE	snow water equivalent
USGS	United States Geological Survey
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NRCS	Natural Resources Conservation Service

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT:	VI
INTRODUCTION	1
Snowmelt Runoff: Nature's Elixir in the West	
Mountain Snowpack: Atmospheric and Hydrologic Forcings	7
The Forecast Challenge	
El Niño-Southern Oscillation and Pacific Decadal Oscillation	11
DATA	18
<u>Study Area</u>	18
SNOTEL Precipitation and Snow Water Equivalent	
NCEP/NCAR Reanalysis Datasets	
Climate Division Precipitation and Palmer Drought Severity Indices	22
METHODOLOGY	25
RESULTS	27
SWE vs. AMJ Streamflow Volume	
Precipitation vs. Streamflow Residuals	33
DWND Index and PDSI	37
CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	43
REFERENCES	46

ABSTRACT: Climatic anomaly relationships that could potentially improve seasonal streamflow forecasts in southern Colorado and northern New Mexico were investigated through consideration of meteorological anomalies during the snow ablation season from 1980-2006. Historical relationships between (i) humidity and wind from March-June defined by an index developed for this study, denoted DWND; (ii) springtime precipitation; (iii) departures from expected seasonal streamflow; and (iv) El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) were examined within four sub-basins in southern Colorado and northern New Mexico: Upper San Juan above Pagosa Springs, Upper Rio Chama above El Vado Reservoir, and Embudo Creek/Rio Pueblo above Dixon. Potentially important links emerged between the DWND index and springtime precipitation. Namely, years that had well-above average DWND index values during April and May recorded below average precipitation if any at all, while years that had a lower average DWND index recorded near normal to much above normal precipitation. Furthermore, the relationship between the DWND index and Niño 3.4 anomalies is better defined than is the relationship between springtime precipitation and ENSO anomalies. This finding may increase confidence that cold (warm) phase ENSO extrema result in a greater (fewer) number of days characterized by low humidity and moderate to strong winds at high elevations in the San Juan and Sangre de Cristo mountains, thereby affecting snowpack and subsequent streamflow.

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Snowmelt Runoff: Nature's Elixir in the West

High-elevation watersheds in the western United States possess the most essential component of the water supply forecast system snow. These snowmelt-dominated basins exhibit a strong seasonality in streamflow such that baseflow conditions from September to March give way to increasing streamflow due to snowmelt runoff (SMR) from April to June with warming temperatures. SMR typically peaks in late May or early June, before streamflow recedes in August.



Figure 1. Annual hydrographs for select snowmelt-dominated basins in southern CO and northern NM.

Figure 1 depicts mean annual hydrographs for select snowmeltdominated watersheds in southern Colorado and northern New Mexico from 1980-2006 (see Fig. 13 for a map of these locations). SMR accounts for as much as 80% of the total annual streamflow volume in these snowmelt-dominated basins (Serreze *et al.*, 1999; Stewart *et al.*, 2005).

The amount of water stored in the mountain snowpack, commonly referred to as snow water equivalent (SWE), has long been measured at high-elevation snow courses throughout the western United States. These permanent sites, usually 1000 feet in length, are typically located within an open meadow that is protected from the wind. Beginning in late fall and continuing through the spring, trained technicians conduct manual surveys where snow depth and SWE are measured around the beginning of each month. There are approximately 100 manual snow course sites in Colorado and New Mexico.

During the late 1970s, the USDA's Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) installed a network of automated Snow Telemetry (SNOTEL) stations to supplement snow course data and, more importantly, to provide daily measurements of SWE. The current SNOTEL system has nearly 700 remote sites in the western United States including Alaska (Schaefer *et al.*, 1996). In northern New

Mexico and southern Colorado, data from nearly 50 automated SNOTEL stations are currently available although fewer than half of these have a period of record greater than 25 years. The Upper San Juan SNOTEL station in southwest Colorado, an original SNOTEL station with a period of record of nearly 30 years, is pictured in Figure 2. Various sensor data that are commonly available at most SNOTEL stations is shown in Table 1.



Figure 2. Upper San Juan SNOTEL. Photo courtesy of NRCS (2007).

Data from both the automated SNOTEL stations and manual snow courses are an essential component of the NRCS Snow Survey Program. Unlike SNOTEL sites, snow courses do not provide precipitation, temperature or other meteorological data.

Instrument	Parameter
Snow Pillow Device and Pressure Transducer	SWE (in.)
Standard 12-inch, all-season, alter-shielded rain gage	Precipitation (in.)
Sonic Sensor	Snow Depth (in.)
Shielded Thermister	Air Temperature (°C)

TABLE 1. Typical SNOTEL Sensor Array.

The interannual variability of mountain snowpack as measured by the SNOTEL-snow course network can be striking. Time series of daily SWE measured at the Upper San Juan SNOTEL in southwest Colorado, for example, are shown in Figure 3 and Figure 4 to illustrate year to year variability. It can be seen that, on average, SWE typically reaches its peak around or shortly after 1 April. This trend generally holds true for most high-elevation watersheds in the West. However, at relatively low elevation or near the southern edge of the snowpack, such as Gallegos Peak, March SWE may provide a better estimate of peak snowpack conditions (Figs. 5-6). Regardless, relationships between of the amount of snow water in the mountain snowpack by early to mid spring and resultant streamflow during the snow ablation season are well documented (Stewart *et al.*, 2005; Cayan *et al.*, 2001).

In general, as more snow accumulates in the high-elevation watersheds the volume of water ultimately released into the river channels downstream also increases. It will be shown in a later section that simple linear regression based on annual values of 1 April SWE at the Upper San Juan SNOTEL station, for example, accounts for nearly 80 percent of the interannual streamflow variance of the San Juan River at Pagosa Springs, CO.



Figure 3. Daily SWE for years with above average 1 Apr SWE, Upper San Juan SNOTEL.



Figure 4. Same as Fig. 3 except for below average years. Location of the Upper San Juan SNOTEL site is shown in Fig. 13.





average 1 Mar SWE, Gallegos Peak SNOTEL.

Figure 6. Same as Fig. 5 except for below average years. Location of the Gallegos Peak SNOTEL site is shown in Fig. 13.

Feb/1

A close inspection of Fig. 4 reveals one year, 2004, when SWE remained above-average from October to March only to end up below average on 1 April. During that year, anomalous snow ablation processes may have resulted in accelerated loss of snowpack just before 1 April. How did spring streamflow respond during that year and other similar years? Conversely, how might streamflow respond during years that observe above-average SWE on 1 April, but the ensuing April-June period is unusually dry and/or windy? In the absence of anomalous snow ablation processes, such as consecutive days of unusually dry and windy weather or short-duration heat waves during March and April, accumulation-based water supply forecasts work reasonably well much of the time (Pagano, 2004). Investigating these anomalous ablation processes and exploring possible answers to the aforementioned questions could potentially result in more skillful streamflow forecasts.

#### Mountain Snowpack: Atmospheric and Hydrologic Forcings

Atmospheric and hydrologic variables that govern the evolution of mountain snowpack and subsequent SMR are complex. During the snow accumulation season, for example, the frequency of precipitation events, ambient air temperature and boundary layer winds are key atmospheric variables that affect the rate at which mountain snowpack develops. Other atmospheric-related forcings such as the turbulent transfer of heat and moisture and radiative exchanges are also important (Gray and Male, 1981). The effects of topography and land

surface variables such as slope, aspect, elevation, and vegetation also greatly determine the spatial distribution of snow cover in any alpine or sub-alpine watershed.

The rate at which snow melts in late spring and early summer is principally driven by increasing solar radiation and warming temperatures (Elder *et al.*, 1991). Decreasing snow albedo, winddriven sublimation, and heat exchange between the atmosphere and snow surface are also important snow ablation processes. A recent study by Painter et al. (2007) found that the deposition of dust, originating from the high desert and Colorado Plateau of northern Arizona and the Four Corners region, on snowpack in high-elevation watersheds of the San Juan Mountains in southwest Colorado resulted in snow melting out nearly a month earlier than normal. However, depending upon the density and ripeness of the snowpack, melt water may not be immediately released to the underlying surface. Soil moisture is an important hydrologic variable that can modulate the rate at which the mountain snowpack releases its snow water to stream channels.

Despite these inherent complexities, seasonal water supply forecasts jointly issued by NRCS and NOAA's National Weather Service (NWS) have generally improved throughout the western United States since the early 1980s (Pagano, 2004). Trends in population growth

coupled with a greater number of studies documenting the effects of climate change on mountain snow pack and SMR in recent years have elevated the need for additional improvement in skill of water supply forecasts to critical levels. For example, Stewart *et al.* (2005) and Cayan, *et al.* (2001) revealed that peaks in runoff associated with snowmelt had shifted earlier in the snowmelt period for many rivers in the western United States.

#### The Forecast Challenge

The relationship between mountain snowpack and snowmelt runoff is especially interesting in northern New Mexico and southern Colorado, where the effects of soil moisture deficits and dry, windy springtime periods often coexist (i.e. this region is very sensitive to warm spells or extensive sublimation events). SWE measured and/or independently sampled near the beginning of each month is the foundation upon which seasonal water supply forecasts are based. Given the uncertainty of future precipitation during both the accumulation and ablation seasons (see Figs. 3-6), water supply forecasts based upon 1 February SWE, for example, are often less skillful than those based upon 1 March or 1 April snowpack data (Pagano, 2004).

Despite known inputs, such as 1 April SWE, departures between observed and predicted streamflow at a particular station can be significant irrespective of the statistical methodology used. While precipitation after 1 April through the end of the forecast period naturally accounts for a significant portion of these departures the effects of anomalously warm or cold (Pagano, 2004), temperatures, soil moisture (either surpluses or deficits), sublimation and accelerated ablation, although difficult to quantify, also contribute to streamflow forecast errors. Other sources of forecast error include rare and unusual weather events that are not possible to predict three months or more in advance and are not accounted for in statistical forecast methodologies.

Weather events, such as excessive precipitation or an anomalously cold period followed by rapid warming in Apr-Jun, can result in significant under-forecasts of streamflow. Pagano (2004) found that significant under-forecast events from 1982-2003 in the western U.S. were characterized by below average snowpack conditions on 1 April followed by above-average precipitation in Apr-Jun.

Conversely, forecast overestimates are more often than not the result of average or slightly above average snowpack conditions followed by anomalously warm, dry, and windy weather. A forecast of

streamflow that exceeds what is actually observed would be troublesome for water managers since water allocation could potentially be impacted.

#### El Niño-Southern Oscillation and Pacific Decadal Oscillation

During the past decade, a considerable amount of climaterelated research has focused on the El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) cycle and Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO). The cause and effect relationship between tropical wind fields and warm/cold phases of ENSO have been well documented. Rasmusson and Carpenter (1982) demonstrated that the onset of the warm phase of ENSO (EI Niño) is strongly correlated with a weakening of the trade winds over the equatorial Pacific. This decrease in wind stress acts to diminish the upwelling of colder waters off the Peruvian coast, resulting in an anomalously warm pool of water over the eastern tropical Pacific (Fig. 7). Subsequent studies have correlated these anomalously warm Pacific sea-surface temperatures (SST) to a large-scale pattern of sealevel pressure anomalies at Tahiti and Darwin, Australia, called the Southern Oscillation (SO) (Walker, 1924).

The PDO is derived from monthly SST anomalies in the North Pacific, poleward of 20° North latitude. The warm (cold) phase of the

PDO (Fig. 8) occurs when North Pacific SST anomalies are negative (positive) (Mantua *et al.*, 1997). The PDO has an equatorial Pacific expression that can interfere either constructively or destructively with ENSO anomalies. PDO events persist for considerably longer periods (20 to 30 years) than do ENSO events, which typically persist anywhere from 6 to 18 months. Therefore, the effects of La Niña on southwestern North America during a warm PDO phase, for example, may be different than during a cold PDO phase. Indeed, some scientists argue that a warm PDO phase is simply a larger scale La Niña and links between ENSO and PDO are not well understood. Another important distinction between the PDO and ENSO is the fact that the PDO relates SST anomalies across the North Pacific, which is much larger in areal coverage than the relatively narrow region of the tropical Pacific associated with ENSO.



Figure 7. Sea-surface temperature anomalies and surface wind vectors associated with ENSO extrema: El Niño (warm) and La Niña (cold). Source: http://jisao.washington.edu/



Figure 8. Sea-surface temperature anomalies, sea-level pressure and surface wind associated with Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) extrema: positive (cold) and negative (warm). Source: http://jisao.washington.edu/

Fluctuations in sea-surface temperatures (SST) and the resultant larger-scale shifts in surface pressure patterns in the tropical Pacific basin are continually monitored to assess the strength of ENSO from season to season. The Southern Oscillation Index (SOI) and equatorial Pacific SST anomalies are the two best known indicators.

SST anomalies associated with the ENSO cycle can have significant impacts on winter precipitation across the western U.S. (Andrade *et al.*, 1988; McCabe *et al.*, 1999). Andrade and Sellers (1988) established a connection between ENSO cycles and the seasonal distribution of precipitation in Arizona and southwest New Mexico such that warm ENSO phases (El Niño) produced above average precipitation while cold ENSO phases (La Niña) produced below average precipitation.

Cayan and Webb (1992) examined relationships between the SOI and April 1 SWE, and between the SOI and annual runoff in the western U.S. They found that SWE and annual runoff were negatively correlated with the SOI in the southwestern U.S., which suggests that EI Niño (La Niña) events result in increased (decreased) SWE and annual runoff. Bradshaw (1994) in an unpublished study examined the impact of warm ENSO years on New Mexico snowfall and found that positive relationships exist between warm ENSO cycles and increased snowfall for parts of the state. According to Bradshaw (1994), the weakest correlations were found to be over the northwest plateau and northwest mountains while the greatest positive influences were over the northeast highlands and plains, southern mountains, southwest deserts and central valleys where snowfall totals averaged 200 to 300 percent of normal.

Gutzler *et al.* (2002) found that the "ENSO-based predictability seems to undergo a profound decadal modification that might be associated statistically with the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) but the physical link to North Pacific ocean temperatures is problematic." Studies have found that significantly positive PDO years favor abovenormal winter precipitation, while significantly-negative PDO years favor below-normal precipitation (Guan *et al.*, 2005; Liles, 1999).

During negative PDO years, Liles (1999) found that annual precipitation in New Mexico climate division 2 (Northern Mountains; see Fig. 14) was 90 percent of normal compared to 124 percent of normal during positive PDO years.

When relating ENSO and streamflow directly, Ropelewski and Halpert (1986) found that the Pecos River basin in New Mexico is very near the northern and eastern limit of the Southwest U.S. ENSO influence. A subsequent study by Molles and Dahm (1990) found similar results and demonstrated that streamflow in the Gila River basin of southwest New Mexico responded more favorably to warm ENSO cycles than did the Pecos River basin, although the Pecos River basin still exhibited a very significant ENSO-related response.

While important links between ENSO and precipitation variability in the southwest U.S. have been documented, especially during the fall and winter, confidence integrating long-lead precipitation outlooks into late winter and early spring water supply forecasts for northern New Mexico and southern Colorado is low. This is due in large part to a statistically insignificant relation between ENSO anomalies (e.g. SOI and Niño 3.4 SST indices), upon which seasonal precipitation outlooks are almost exclusively based, and springtime precipitation at high elevations in the San Juan and Sangre de Cristo Mountains of southern Colorado and northern New Mexico (Figs. 9-12).



Figures 9 through 12 depict the relationship between springtime precipitation and ENSO anomalies for the four SNOTEL stations used in

this study. Note the lack of correlation between Niño 3.4 SST anomalies in the six months preceding spring SNOTEL precipitation. That said, days characterized by little or no measurable precipitation and low humidity are more common than wet days in the spring. Moreover, low humidity days are often windy, which can accelerate the loss of snowpack through sublimation processes and result in lessthan-expected streamflow particularly early in the forecast period. It is therefore instructive to collectively investigate relationships between dry, windy Apr-Jun periods and springtime precipitation, departures from expected streamflow and ENSO.

# CHAPTER 2

#### DATA

#### Study Area

Four snowmelt-dominated watersheds in the San Juan and Sangre de Cristo mountains of southern Colorado and northern New Mexico were chosen for this study (Fig. 13). These high-elevation basins were carefully selected so that a long-term SNOTEL station, with a historical record extending back to at least 1981, was paired with an unencumbered stream that was gauged near the outlet of the same sub-basin for an equally long period of time. Despite the fact that historical records of SNOTEL stations are considerably shorter than snow courses, SNOTEL data were used in this study since, in addition to SWE, daily precipitation was a critical element. The selected basins are geographically diverse in terms of meridional orientation (i.e. north to south), elevation and areal extent (Table 2). Historical measurements of 1 March and 1 April SWE, cumulative precipitation and streamflow volume from April-June, as well as 700mb mean values of air temperature, zonal wind and relative humidity within each of the four high-elevation watersheds were analyzed between 1980 and 2006.

	Drainage Area (mi²)	<b>Latitude</b> SNOTEL [Stream Gauge]	<b>Longitude</b> SNOTEL [Stream Gauge]	Elevation/ Datum SNOTEL [Stream Gauge]
Upper San Juan	772	37.48°N	106.83°W	10200 ft. MSL
above Pagosa Spgs.		(37.26°N)	(107.00°W)	(7058 ft.)
Rio Chama above	480	37.02°N	106.45°W	10040 ft. MSL
El Vado Reservoir		(36.66°N)	(106.23°W)	(7084 ft.)
Red River above	113	36.68°N	105.33°W	9850 ft. MSL
Questa		(36.70°N)	(105.57°W)	(7452 ft.)
Embudo Creek	305	36.18°N	105.55°W	9800 ft. MSL
above Dixon		(36.21°N)	(105.91°W)	(5859 ft.)

TABLE 2. Description of Study Basins.



Figure 13. Location of snowmelt-dominated basins, SNOTEL stations and USGS stream gauges used in this study.

#### USGS Daily Streamflow

Mean daily streamflow data obtained from the U.S. Geological Survey online database (http://waterdata.usgs.gov/nwis/sw) for the San Juan River at Pagosa Springs, CO (USGS ID 09342500), Rio Chama near La Puente, NM (USGS ID 08284100), Red River near Questa, NM (USGS ID 08265000), and Embudo Creek at Dixon, NM (USGS ID 08279000), were combined into April-June flow volumes in thousands of acre-feet (kaf). The April-June period was chosen to better isolate runoff that could be more strongly attributed to snowmelt versus runoff from convective precipitation events that are predominant during the summer (July-September) thunderstorm season.

#### SNOTEL Precipitation and Snow Water Equivalent

Daily measurements of snow water equivalent (SWE) and precipitation obtained from the NRCS for the Upper San Juan SNOTEL (CO06M03S), Cumbres Trestle SNOTEL (CO06M22S), Red River Pass #2 SNOTEL (NM05N11S) and Gallegos Peak SNOTEL (NM05N18S) were parsed into 1 March SWE and 1 April SWE values, and monthly and seasonal precipitation (e.g. MAM, AMJ). See Fig. 13 for SNOTEL station locations. Data were obtained from the NRCS at: ftp://ftp.wcc.nrcs.usda.gov/data/snow/snotel/table/history.

#### <u>NCEP/NCAR Reanalysis Datasets</u>

Daily composites of analyzed air temperature, mean relative humidity, and the zonal (east-west) component of the horizontal wind at 700-mb from 1980-2006 were obtained from the NOAA/ESRL Physical Sciences Division web site (http://www.cdc.noaa.gov). These widely-used datasets were compiled by the NCEP/NCAR Reanalysis Project (Kalnay *et al.*, 1996) and are mapped to a 2.5° latitude x 2.5° longitude global grid. A locally created PHP script extracted daily temperature, mean relative humidity, and zonal wind values from the global data file for points nearest the SNOTEL locations used in this study. The 700-mb level was chosen as it best represents free-air conditions near mountaintop level in the study area (elev. ~3000 m or ~10,000 ft MSL). Nearly 2,500 days were examined.

#### <u>Climate Division Precipitation and Palmer Drought Severity Indices</u>

Mean monthly precipitation and Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) values for Colorado Climate Division 2 (Colorado Drainage Basin), Colorado Climate Division 5 (Rio Grande Drainage Basin), and New Mexico Climate Division 2 (Northern Mountains) obtained from the NOAA/ESRL Physical Sciences Division web site (http://www.cdc.noaa.gov) (NCDC, 1994) were aggregated into various seasonal (e.g. MAM, AMJ) periods for comparison to SNOTEL

precipitation. Figure 14 shows the location of Colorado and New Mexico climate division boundaries. It is important to note that various observational networks are used in climate division data, with most observations located in populated areas resulting in values that are biased towards low-elevations.

The PDSI is a meteorological drought index based on temperature and precipitation data and the local available water content of the soil. It is useful for monitoring long-term, hydrological drought. Negative (positive) PDSI values indicate drought (wet) conditions. To capture trends during the baseflow period (fall/winter) preceding the peak SMR period, a mean seasonal Sep-Feb PDSI value was computed.



Figure 14. Colorado and New Mexico climate division boundaries.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

#### **METHODOLOGY**

Relationships between snowpack, streamflow, and sublimation processes were diagnosed using least-square linear regression. The main predictor variable for streamflow in each study basin was 1 April (or 1 March) SWE at a single SNOTEL station near the time of peak snow accumulation (1 April or 1 March). This defines "expected" streamflow.

Relationships between springtime precipitation and departures from expected streamflow were then examined. Precipitation data from both the SNOTEL gauge (e.g. high elevation, point value) and corresponding climate division (e.g. lower elevation, areal average) were compared to the residuals to determine how much of the streamflow variance could be explained by precipitation alone, and whether using an areal average value that incorporates lower elevation data yields better results than simply knowing a single, high-elevation point value.

To isolate days that were characterized by low relative humidity and moderate to strong winds near mountaintop-level, a simple, dualparameter dry-wind atmospheric index (herein referred to as DWND index) was created by dividing the daily values of 700-mb zonal wind by the 700-mb relative humidity and multiplying by 100. An average

DWND index for the reanalysis grid cell containing each SNOTEL site (e.g. lat/lon pair) was computed for various monthly combinations such as March-April (MA), April-May (AM), March-May (MAM) and April-June (AMJ) for each year. Relationships between the DWND index and springtime precipitation, seasonal departures from expected streamflow and ENSO were examined.

Because the purpose of this study is to analyze the processes that cause departures from streamflow expected based on 1 Apr SWE, rather than to minimize forecast standard error, a single predictor variable was used to keep the calculations simple and easy to interpret. Multiple linear regressions were employed to determine how much additional variance, if any, of the crucial streamflow residuals could be explained by the PDSI, Niño 3.4 SST anomalies, or the DWND index developed as part of this study.

# CHAPTER 4 RESULTS

#### SWE vs. AMJ Streamflow Volume

Relationships between AMJ streamflow and SWE on 1 March and 1 April were examined for the four study basins, and a subset of these results is shown in Figures 15-19. A strong relationship between AMJ volume of the San Juan River flow at Pagosa Springs, CO and 1 March SWE, with an R<sup>2</sup> value of 0.59, is evident in Figure 15. The relationship between AMJ volume and 1 April SWE (Fig. 16) is even stronger with an R<sup>2</sup> value of 0.79 (statistically significant at a 5% level) due to additional snow accumulation in March. This indicates the level of skill of a seasonal streamflow forecast that could potentially be derived from a perfect snow accumulation forecast, without regard for snow ablation processes after 1 April. Results for the Upper Rio Chama above El Vado Reservoir, NM (Fig. 17) indicate a similar positive correlation (R<sup>2</sup>=0.73) for 1 April SWE. Red River above Questa, NM (Fig. 18) and Embudo Creek above Dixon, NM (Fig. 19) demonstrate positive relationships that are somewhat weaker.



Upper San Juan SNOTEL San Juan River near Pagosa Springs, CO y = 2.7912 + 1.4952x  $R^2 = 0.79194$ Apr-Jun Volume (kaf) 1 April SWE (in.)

Figure 15. 1 Mar SWE vs. AMJ streamflow volume for the Upper San Juan River above Pagosa Springs, CO.



Figure 17. 1 Apr SWE vs. AMJ streamflow volume for the Rio Chama above El Vado Reservoir, NM.

Figure 16. Same as in Fig.15 except for 1 Apr SWE.



Figure 18. 1 Mar SWE vs. AMJ streamflow volume for the Red River above Questa, NM.



A summary of R<sup>2</sup> values resulting from simple linear regression calculations used to relate SWE and AMJ streamflow for each of the four high elevation watersheds is provided in Table 3. Each of these values is statistically significant at the 5% level but the magnitude of the linear relationship varies considerably.



TABLE 3. Coefficient of Determination (R<sup>2</sup>) Values for SWE vs. Volume Plots.

R<sup>2</sup> values for the SWE vs. volume plots were highest for the Upper San Juan above Pagosa Springs and Rio Chama above El Vado Reservoir, implying a relatively close fit to the observed data. R<sup>2</sup> values quickly dropped off for the two New Mexico SNOTEL locations. At these more southerly, lower elevation basins the better correlation shifted from 1 April SWE to the earlier 1 March SWE values, which suggests that AMJ volume might be better predicted using snowpack conditions earlier in the melt season. This result is consistent with the notion that snowmelt in northern New Mexico typically occurs earlier than it does farther north in Colorado (Figs. 3-6).

Of particular interest for this study are those years that had near-normal 1 April SWE values, but subsequent AMJ streamflow volumes that were starkly different from what would have been expected through use of simple linear regression based on 1 Apr SWE. As mentioned previously, precipitation (or lack thereof) after 1 Apr likely explains a significant portion of these departures as will be seen in the next section, but other meteorological anomalies should be examined. Figure 20 and Figure 21 show a comparison of daily 700mb temperature traces for the months of April and May in years that had near-normal 1 April SWE values but subsequent streamflow volume was either well-below expectation or well-above expectation for the Upper San Juan above Pagosa Springs, CO and Embudo Creek

above Dixon, NM, respectively. Note in both time series, evidence of short-duration (5 to 10 consecutive days) heat waves in April of years when Apr-Jun streamflow volumes were well-below average: 1989 for the Upper San Juan above Pagosa Springs, CO and 2003 for Embudo Creek above Dixon, NM. The number of consecutive days that the mean 700-mb temperature remained above average during the same periods is also significant.



Figure 20. Time series of AM 700-mb temperature for 1986 (strong positive residual), 1989 (strong negative residual), and 1980-2005 average at the Upper San Juan SNOTEL.



Figure 21. Time series of MA 700-mb temperature for 1992 (strong positive residual), 2003 (strong negative residual), and 1981-2006 average at the Gallegos Peak SNOTEL.



Similarly, Figure 22 and Figure 23 are the same as Figs. 20-21 except for the DWND index for years that had near-normal 1 April SWE values

but subsequent streamflow volume was either well-below expectation (red lines, closed triangles) or well-above expectation (blue lines, closed boxes) for the Upper San Juan above Pagosa Springs, CO and Embudo Creek above Dixon, NM, respectively.

#### Precipitation vs. Streamflow Residuals

Precipitation data from both the individual SNOTEL gauge (e.g. high elevation, point value) and corresponding climate division (e.g. lower elevation, areal average) were compared to the streamflow residuals to assess how much of the streamflow variance could be explained by precipitation alone.

Values represent the percent of interannual streamflow variance explained by precipitation alone. Values in parentheses represent precipitation for corresponding climate divisions					
Basin	Mar-Apr	Mar-May	Mar-Jun	Apr-May	Apr-Jun
Upper San Juan above Pagosa Spgs.				<b>0.37</b> (0.35)	0.36
Rio Chama above El Vado Reservoir				<b>0.66</b> (0.53)	0.61
Red River Above Questa	0.68	0.82	<b>0.85</b> (0.67)		
Embudo Creek Above Dixon	0.61	<b>0.66</b> (0.50)	0.65		

Table 4. Coefficient of Determination (R<sup>2</sup>) Values for SNOTEL (Climato Division) Procinitation vs. Posidual Plats Correlations between cumulative precipitation after 1 March or 1 April and departures from predicted streamflow varied considerably from basin to basin as seen in Table 4. This finding is not surprising. Interestingly, 82% (85%) of the streamflow variance for the Red River above Questa, NM could be explained by cumulative Mar-May (Mar-Jun) SNOTEL precipitation, respectively (Figs. 24 and 25). These relatively high R<sup>2</sup> values can, in part, be explained by the fact that the Red River above Questa sub-basin had the poorest relationship between 1 Mar SWE and AMJ streamflow. Thus, residuals were significantly higher as compared to other basins in the study.

The more interesting trend was the fact that June precipitation contributed to explaining streamflow variance only at Red River. 700mb winds from the northwest and "backdoor" cold fronts are common across northeast New Mexico during June. These patterns favor convective precipitation along the east slopes of the Sangre de Cristo range, which includes the Upper Red River sub-basin. In contrast, knowing June precipitation for the other three basins did not explain any additional streamflow variance. This finding supports the notion that little if any effective precipitation falls during the month of June west of the Sangre de Cristo range, where June climatologically is among the driest months of the year.



**Figure 24.** Mar-May precipitation vs. departures from expected streamflow for the Upper Red River above Questa.

Figure 25. Same as in Figure 24 except for Mar-Jun precipitation.

Meanwhile, the Rio Chama above El Vado Reservoir and Embudo Creek above Dixon had similar results in that 66% of the streamflow variance could be explained by Mar-May and Apr-May cumulative precipitation, respectively. The poorest correlation between precipitation and departures from expected streamflow was in the Upper San Juan above Pagosa Springs (Table 4). One explanation might be the fact that this particular basin had an especially strong relationship between 1 Apr SWE and AMJ streamflow and thus residuals were comparatively small.

Another potentially important finding was the fact that corresponding climate division precipitation explained less streamflow

variance in all cases than a single, high-elevation point value from a SNOTEL station. As a result, incorporating precipitation data from lower elevation stations (e.g. climate division areal average) appears to dilute or dampen important terrain-driven influences on precipitation at high elevations.

pronounced example springtime А of the impact that precipitation can have on streamflow was in 1986. Although 1 April SWE was very close to average that year for the Upper San Juan SNOTEL station, the two-month Apr-May period was one of the wettest on record, with 12.3 inches of precipitation recorded at the SNOTEL station, nearly double the long-term average of 7.4 inches. The corresponding climate division precipitation for the same period (Apr-May) was 3.29 inches compared to an average value of 2.78 inches. Not surprisingly, the observed streamflow was significantly higher than would have been predicted using simple linear regression. Official streamflow forecasts were likely closer to what was actually observed, but this case draws attention to the need for additional studies that focus on potential links between ENSO and high-elevation meteorological anomalies.

#### DWND Index and PDSI

The process of changing phase directly from a solid to a gaseous state is called sublimation. When the ambient air temperature is less than the temperature of a snow surface, then heat fluxes will be upward-directed (both sensible and latent heat of sublimation). Conversely, if the air temperature is warmer than a snow surface, sensible heat transfer will be directed downward from the atmosphere to the snowpack. The direction of the latent heat transfer will depend upon the humidity of the air immediately above the snow surface. Drier air near and just above a snowpack that has a snow surface temperature of 0° Celsius will result in sublimation (Satterlund *et al.*, 1992).

Generally speaking, faster wind speeds above a snowpack result in increased potential for sublimation particularly when the snow surface temperatures are between -5°C and 0°C (Satterlund *et al.*, 1992). However, the actual amount of water vapor exchanged between the snowpack and the atmosphere through wind-driven sublimation is still not well understood. Hood *et al.* (1999) found that in a continental, alpine climate like the Colorado Rockies, using data from the melt season to predict sublimation over the entire snow season (i.e. accumulation and ablation) will most likely result in an underestimation of sublimation, perhaps to quite a large extent.

Although no direct link between potential sublimation and the DWND index is established in this study, it is plausible that high DWND index days may be closely associated with increased potential for sublimation due to strong westerly winds and low humidity.

The relationship between the DWND index and Niño 3.4 anomalies appears to be better defined than is the relationship between AMJ precipitation and Niño 3.4 anomalies (Figs. 26-29). This finding may increase confidence that cold (warm) phase ENSO cycles result in a greater (fewer) number of relatively dry (low humidity), windy days during the springtime when snow ablation processes are at their most critical period. The statistical relationship between DWND and ENSO implies that DWND is potentially predictable months in advance.

Such predictability could lead to improvements in streamflow forecasting, because potentially important links emerged between the DWND index, ENSO and springtime precipitation. With very few exceptions, years that were characterized by below average 700-mb humidity and a moderate to strong zonal wind component during April and May at any of the four sites recorded below average precipitation if any at all. Similarly, with very few exceptions, years that had belowaverage DWND indices recorded near normal to much above normal precipitation (Figs. 30-33).

	DWND	PDSI	DWND & PDSI	Prec.	DWND, PDSI & Prec.
Upper San Juan above Pagosa Spgs.	0.10	0.17	0.20	0.37	0.44
Rio Chama above El Vado Reservoir	0.37	0.22	0.49	0.66	0.75
Red River Above Questa	0.14	0.27	0.28	0.85	0.86
Embudo Creek Above Dixon	0.28	0.22	0.35	0.66	0.67

TABLE 5. Percent of Interannual Streamflow Variance Explained
by the DWND, PDSI, and combined DWND & PDSI
compared to SNOTEL Precipitation.



**Figure 26.** Nino 3.4 SST anomalies vs. DWND index at Upper San Juan SNOTEL.



Figure 28. Same as in Fig. 26 except for Red River Pass #2 SNOTEL.



Figure 27. Same as in Fig. 26 except for Cumbres Trestle SNOTEL.



Figure 29. Same as in Fig. 26 except for Gallegos Peak SNOTEL.



Average Mar-May DWND Index Figure 32. Same as in Fig. 26 except for Red River Pass #2 SNOTEL.





Figure 34. Average Apr-May DWND index vs. residuals, Upper San Juan above Pagosa Springs, CO.



Figure 35. Same as in Fig. 30 except for the Rio Chama above El Vado reservoir, NM.



Figure 36. Same as in Fig. 30 except for Red River above Questa, NM.



Figure 37. Same as in Fig. 30 except for Embudo Creek above Dixon, NM.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

### CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

In this study, meteorological anomalies during the snow ablation season were investigated within four snowmelt-dominated basins in southern Colorado and northern New Mexico. These included historical relationships between (i) humidity and wind from March-June as defined by the DWND index; (ii) springtime precipitation; (iii) departures from expected seasonal streamflow; and (iv) El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO). Several parameters that could potentially lead to improved streamflow forecasts in southern Colorado and northern New Mexico were documented.

One of the more interesting results of this study is that the relationship between the DWND index and Niño 3.4 anomalies appears to be better defined than is the relationship between springtime SNOTEL precipitation and Niño 3.4 anomalies. This finding may increase confidence that cold (warm) phases of ENSO result in greater (fewer) number of days characterized by above (below) normal windiness and low (high) humidity at high elevations in northern New Mexico and southern Colorado in the springtime. Moreover, three or more consecutive days of unusually dry, warm and windy weather early in the ablation period, which are partially captured in a monthly or multi-monthly DWND index, appear to be related to significant

negative departures of expected streamflow. Additional studies need to be conducted to better and more accurately describe these events.

Another potentially important finding was that climate division precipitation explained less streamflow variance in all basins than did using a single, high-elevation point value. Therefore, utilizing climate division precipitation data that is weighted more strongly toward lower elevation stations versus higher elevation stations appears to dampen the terrain-enhanced precipitation signal just enough to degrade a streamflow forecast. Moreover, with the exception of the Upper Red River above Questa, incorporating precipitation data for June did not explain any additional streamflow variance above that of the MAM or AM periods. When considered together, the DWND index and PDSI explained between 20 to 49 percent of the interannual streamflow variance compared to 37 to 85 percent when precipitation alone was considered. Since potential predictability of the DWND index appears to be higher than for high-elevation springtime precipitation based on ENSO, this finding suggests the need for additional studies to examine 700-mb height anomalies over the Pacific preceding years that exhibited high Mar-May DWND index values (Fig. 38). Relationships, if any, between excessive dust deposition and dry, windy springtime periods (i.e. high DWND indices) would also be especially interesting to examine further.



Figure 38. Jan-Mar 700-mb height anomalies preceding years with well-above average Apr-May DWND index values. Source: http://www.cdc.noaa.gov/Composites/Day/

#### REFERENCES

- Andrade, E.R., and W.D. Sellers, 1988. El Niño and its effect on precipitation in Arizona and western New Mexico. *J. Climatology*, *8*, 403-410.
- Bradshaw, T., 1994. Relationships between El Niño and New Mexico seasonal snowfall patterns. Unpublished local study. NOAA/NWS Albuquerque.
- Cayan, D. R., and R. H. Webb, El Nino/Southern Oscillation and streamflow in the western United States, in *El Nino: Historical and Paleoclimatic Aspects of the Southern Oscillation*, edited by H. Diaz and V. Markgraf, pp. 29–68, Cambridge Univ. Press, New York, 1992.
- Cayan, D. R., 1996. Interannual climate variability and snowpack in the western United States. *J. Climate*, *9*, 928–948.
- Cayan, D. R., S. A. Kammerdiener, M. D. Dettinger, J. M. Caprio, and D. H. Peterson, 2001. Changes in the onset of spring in the western United States. *Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc.*, *82*, 399–416.
- Elder, K., J. Dozier, and J. Michaelsen , 1991. Snow accumulation and distribution in an alpine watershed, *Water Resour. Res.*, 27(7), 1541–1552.
- Gray, D. M. and D. H. Male, 1981: *Handbook of Snow: Principles, Processes, Management and Use*. Pergamon Press, 776 pp.
- Guan, H., E. Vivoni, and J. L. Wilson, Effects of atmospheric teleconnections on seasonal precipitation in mountainous regions of the southwestern U.S. -- A case study in northern New Mexico, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 32, 23701, doi:10.1029/2005GL023759.
- Gutzler, D.S., D. Kann and C. Thornburgh, 2002. Modulation of ENSO-based long-lead outlooks of Southwest U.S. winter precipitation by the Pacific Decadal Oscillation. *Weather and Forecasting*, *17*, 1163-1172.
- Hood, E., M. Williams, D. and Cline, 1999. Sublimation from a seasonal snowpack at a continental, mid-latitude alpine site. *Hydrol. Processes*, *13*, 1781-97.

- Kalnay, E. and Coauthors, 1996. The NCEP/NCAR Reanalysis 40-year Project. *Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc.*, *77*, 437-471.
- Liles, C.A., 1999. Relationships between the Pacific Decadal Oscillation and New Mexico annual and seasonal precipitation. unpublished local study, NOAA/NWS Albuquerque.
- Mantua, N. J., S. R. Hare, Y. Zhang, J. M. Wallace, and R. C. Francis, 1997: A Pacific interdecadal climate oscillation with impacts on salmon production. *Bull. Amer. Meteor. So.*, *78*, 1069-1079.
- McCabe, G. J. and M. D. Dettinger, 1999. Decadal variations in the strength of ENSO teleconnections with precipitation in the western United States. *Internatl. J. Climatology* 19, 1069-1079.
- Molles, M.C., Jr., and C.N. Dahm, 1990. A perspective on El Niño and La Niña: global implications for stream ecology. *J. North American Benthological Society 9*, 68-76.
- NCDC, 1994. Time Bias Corrected Divisional Temperature-Precipitation-Drought Index. Documentation for dataset TD-9640. Available from DBMB, NCDC, NOAA, Federal Building, 37 Battery Park Ave. Asheville, NC 28801-2733. 12pp.
- NOAA, Climate Prediction Center (CPC), 2002. Cold and warm ENSO episodes by season. http://www.cpc.noaa.gov/products/analysis\_monitoring/
- Pagano, T. C., D. C. Garen, and S. Sorooshian, 2004. Evaluation of official Western US seasonal water supply outlooks, 1922-2002. *J. Hydrometeorol.* 5, 683–698.
- Painter, T. H., A. P. Barrett, C. Landry, J. Neff, M. P. Cassidy, C. Lawrence, K. E. McBride, and G. L. Farmer, 2007. Impact of disturbed desert soils on duration of mountain snowcover, *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 34, L12502, doi:10.1029/2007GL030284.
- Rasmusson, E.M., and T.H. Carpenter, 1982. Variations in tropical sea surface temperature and surface wind fields associated with the Southern Oscillation/El Nino. *Mon. Wea. Rev., 110*, 354-384.

- Regonda, S., B. Rajagopalan, M.P. Clark, and J. Pitlick, 2005. Seasonal cycle shifts in Hydroclimatology over the western United States. *J. Climate, 18*, 372-384.
- Ropelewski, C.F., and M.S. Halpert, 1986. North American precipitation and temperature patterns associated with the El Niño/Southern Oscillation. *Mon. Wea. Rev., 114*, 2352-2362.
- Satterlund, D. R. and P. W. Adams, 1992. *Wildland watershed management*, 2nd edition. John Wiley and Sons, Inc. New York, NY.
- Schaefer, G.L., Werner, J., "SNOTEL into the Year 2000," American Meteorological Society Meeting, 12th Conference on Biometeorology and Aerobiology, January 28 - February 2, 1996, Atlanta, Georgia
- Serreze, M. C., M. P. Clark, R. L. Armstrong, D. A. McGinnis, and R. S. Pulwarty, 1999. Characteristics of the western United States snowpack from snowpack telemetry (SNOTEL) data. *Water Resour. Res.*, 35, 2145–2160.
- Stewart, I. T., D. R. Cayan, and M. D. Dettinger, 2005. Changes toward earlier streamflow timing across western North America. *J. Climate, 18*, 1136-1155.
- USDA, Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS), 1997. Southern oscillation index statistical correlation with spring runoff in the western U.S. http://www.wcc.nrcs.usda.gov
- Walker, G.T., 1924: Correlations in seasonal variations of weather. I. A further study of world weather. *Mem. Indian Meteorol. Dep. 24*, 275-332.
- Wallace, J.M., and D.S. Gutzler, 1981. Teleconnections in the geopotential height field during the northern hemisphere winter. *Mon. Wea. Rev.*, *109*, 784-812.